
M E M O R A N D U M 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Council 
 
FROM: Jayne Miller, Community Services Administrator 
 
DATE:  January 22, 2007 
 
SUBJECT: Resolution to Approve Barton Green Area Plan, 31.93 Acres, West Side of 

Pontiac Trail, North of Skydale Drive (CPC Recommendation: Approval - 6 
Yeas and 1 Nay). 

 
 
Attached is a resolution requesting approval of an area plan for the potential residential 
construction of 186 flats and 67 townhomes.  This proposal received a recommendation 
of approval by the City Planning Commission at its meeting of November 21, 2006.  In 
situations where new development is planned, zoning applications must be 
accompanied by either an area plan or a site plan.  An area plan is more conceptual in 
nature than a site plan and gives Planning Commission and Council a general idea of 
how the property could be developed under a particular zoning district.  An area plan 
must be followed up with an approved site plan in order for the petitioner to receive 
building permits.  
 
 
 
Prepared By:  Laurie Foondle, Management Assistant 
Reviewed By: Mark Lloyd, Planning and Development Services Manager 
    Jayne Miller, Community Services Administrator 
Approved By: Roger W. Fraser, City Administrator 
 
Attachments:     Proposed Resolution 
      11/21/06 and 5/16/06 Planning Commission Minutes 
        Planning Staff Report 



 

 

RESOLUTION TO APPROVE 
BARTON GREEN AREA PLAN, 31.93 ACRES, 

WEST SIDE OF PONTIAC TRAIL, NORTH OF SKYDALE DRIVE 
(CPC RECOMMENDATION:  APPROVAL – 6 YEAS AND 1 NAY) 

 
 
Whereas, WDG-DK, LLC has requested area plan approval to accompany the Barton 
Green zoning on the west side of Pontiac Trail, north of Skydale Drive; and 
 
Whereas, The Ann Arbor City Planning Commission, on November 21, 2006, 
recommended approval of said request; 
 
RESOLVED, That City Council approve the Barton Green Area Plan. 
 
 
 
Submitted by: Planning and Development Services 
Date:   January 22, 2007 



 

 

NOVEMBER 21, 2006 PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES 
 

a. Public Hearing and Action on Barton Green Zoning and Area Plan, 31.93 acres, west side of 
Pontiac Trail north of Skydale Drive.  A request to zone this parcel R4A (Multiple-Family Dwelling District) 
and a proposal to develop 253 residential units in 19 buildings, a community building, and 566 parking 
spaces (tabled at 5/16/06 meeting) – Staff Recommendation:  Approval 
 
Vaughn described the proposal and showed photographs of the property. 
 
Scott Betzoldt, of Midwestern Consulting, representing the petitioner, stated that the proposal was 
consistent with the master plan and with the surrounding uses.  He said they worked with staff to resolve 
all of the issues raised at the May 16 Planning Commission meeting.  He stated that the proposed layout 
was situated on the easterly portion of the property to keep the units and roadways out of the most 
valuable natural features, which would also provide the residents with a better buffer from the highway.  
He did not think the proposed access linking this proposal and the neighborhood to the south would 
generate a great deal of cut-through traffic on Skydale.  Interconnectivity did have benefits, he said.  The 
topography of the site was a unique challenge, he said, stating that the site fell 70 feet from north to 
south.  He said the proposed layout of the buildings was driven by that.  He described the different types 
of units that were proposed, noting that they studied urban development in other communities, looking at 
how they disguised the necessities.  He stated that this design would allow very little impervious surface 
and said they have been working with staff on the forest restoration plan.  He was available to answer 
questions. 
 
George Hauptman, a resident on Pontiac Trail, expressed concern about linking this development with 
Skydale, stating that there were children who played along Skydale and he was worried for their safety.  
He was not convinced that there would be very little usage of Skydale coming from the Barton Green 
development.  He said an argument could be made that the path of least resistance might become 
Skydale, resulting in it being heavily used.  Perhaps speed bumps or pavement options could take care of 
this concern, he said.  He also expressed concern about how construction of this development would 
affect the residents along Skydale, noting that in some places there was only a 25-foot wide buffer 
between the single-family homes and new units.  He said he would feel more comfortable if some kind of 
buffer or greenbelt were provided.   
 
Mike Prozinski, 446 Larkspur, said he was a member of the Northeast Area Transportation Plan (NEATP) 
citizens advisory committee, which worked hard to develop a plan to encourage non-motorized 
transportation to neighborhoods.  It seemed unfortunate to him that the NEATP was amended, without a 
public hearing, to include motorized transportation connections.  While it seemed to be a minor change, 
he said, it altered the spirit of what the citizens advisory committee had attempted to do.  He said no one 
liked traffic cutting through their neighborhoods and he believed measures should be taken to prevent 
that.  In looking at this proposal, he could see how it would be faster for people to use the access link to 
Skydale, which would then be a straight road to Pontiac Trail.  There was a large park on Skydale, he 
said, where children played and people walked their dogs.  He encouraged the earlier proposal of only an 
emergency access to Skydale and said he would like the petitioner to work with the residents of this 
neighborhood to develop a plan for traffic calming devices to discourage cut-through traffic. 
 
David Gag, a resident on Larkspur, said he had two children who played in the park on Skydale.  He 
believed a third of the residents in the Barton Green development would find it easier to use Skydale as a 
direct link to Pontiac Trail.  This could mean an extra 150 cars, he said, and there were only 30 homes 
along Skydale.  He stated that something should be done to replace the clear-cutting that took place on 
this property and he also suggested that a meeting be held with the residents before this project was 
approved. 
 
Dale Peterson, a resident on East Barton Lane, expressed concern that so much of the trees on the east 
side of the site were cut down that there would now be readily available access to his property.  He 



 

 

wondered if a barrier might be installed so people would not be moving through his property and 
wondered if the petitioner had any plans in that regard. 
 
The owner of a piece of property near this site stated that access to his property has been tentatively 
worked out and he had no objections to this proposal.  He stated that removing the access link with 
Skydale would affect this tentative access. 
 
David Kwan, 218 North Division Street, one of the petitioners, believed they had reached out to the 
neighbors.  He said they mailed postcards for a November 15 neighborhood meeting to the owners and 
occupants on the same list used by the City for sending notices, but only one resident attended. 
 
Noting no further speakers, Pratt declared the public hearing closed. 
 

Moved by Carlberg, seconded by Emaus, that the Ann Arbor City 
Planning Commission hereby recommends that the Mayor and City 
Council approve the Barton Green R4A (Multiple-Family Dwelling 
District) Zoning and Area Plan. 

 
Bona said she was very supportive of the Skydale connection because it was extremely important that 
there be interconnected neighborhoods, not just for access of emergency and delivery vehicles and to 
avoid forcing all vehicles onto overloaded arterials, but to also encourage social connection to 
neighborhoods.  She said it was perceived to be safer if there were neighbors regularly driving by other 
neighbors’ homes.  While she appreciated the petitioner’s attempts at holding a meeting with the 
neighborhood, she suggested that the petitioner provide the residents with a contact number.  With 
regard to the area plan, she encouraged a straighter route for most of units onto Pontiac Trail, as the 
current configuration of the routes might cause too much temptation to use Skydale.  She did not support 
making Skydale a shortcut for the residents of Barton Green.  She also encouraged that sidewalks be 
provided on both sides of the private street.  She liked the fact that many of the garages were under the 
units and the more this could be done, she said, the better.  She reinforced parallel parking, stating that it 
was a good, efficient use of impervious pavement to use streets for parking. 
 
Potts stated that the configuration of the streets in Barton Green is what would cause the use of Skydale 
for shortcuts.  There did not seem to be any reason for the zig-zag routes of the streets in this proposal, 
she said.  Although there was a detailed remediation report for parts of the woodland removed 
prematurely, she said, there have been a few people who have said that there were still some areas 
where trees were needed.  She said she would need to see a map of where the woods were removed 
and where the replacement trees would go.   
 
Carlberg asked if there were a way to relocate the southern townhouses in order to decrease the impact 
on the single-family homes along Skydale.   
 
Betzoldt said they were unable to move the units without damaging the native forest fragment.  He said 
this site was very hilly and the design of the site was driven by the topography. 
 
Carlberg stated that there may be some aesthetic value for the units with driveways in the rear, but said it 
increased impervious surface and asked why the petitioner felt this was a better design than what was 
designed for the other units. 
 
Betzoldt said their intention was to bring some of the units closer to the street, following new urbanism 
philosophy.   
 
Carlberg stated that the curving nature of the private road provided residents with a different aspect when 
looking out their windows, giving them more of a natural setting view.  She said it provided a more 
interesting layout.  However, she believed people walked outdoors for health reasons and were not 
concerned with whether the streets were curved or straight, they just followed the sidewalks.  She was 



 

 

not sure how the street could be reconfigured without losing the advantages it provided. Her main 
concern, she said, was how to minimize the impact from the units closest to the existing single-family 
homes.  She suggested heavy vegetation be provided, adding that it was also important for the northern 
units to have proper buffering from what was eventually developed on the property to the north. 
 
Emaus stated that the circuitous road pattern at first did not appeal to him.  However, he understood that 
this site was quite hilly and the design of the units was interesting, with the way they fit into the contour of 
the land with parking underneath.  He agreed that people would walk on the sidewalk, regardless of the 
route, and that the proposed pattern would provide different views for residents.  With regard to cars 
using Skydale, he pointed out that Skydale was a public street, and the park on Skydale was a public 
park.  He would like the residents of Barton Green to take advantage of that park, adding that this was an 
amenity to all, not just the residents of the neighborhood to the south.  He did not think the location of the 
access link was a prime place for a cut-through, noting that it would not provide access to streets like 
Barton Drive or Whitmore Lake Road. 
 
Lipson was satisfied that natural feature mitigation would proceed in a way that was acceptable to staff.  
He was pleased that the buildings were moved further away from the forest fragment.  He said he would 
like to see a direct pedestrian route from all of the buildings to Pontiac Trail, as he would like to see more 
people taking the bus and this would provide a direct route to the bus stop.  He did not mind the streets 
being curved, but believed straight walkways for pedestrians were important.  He did not think there 
would be many people from Barton Green driving on Skydale.  He wanted the residents of Barton Green 
to be able to walk to the park on Skydale, rather than drive, stating that walking would help create a 
community between the two developments.  He believed the interconnection was more symbolic than 
anything else.  He agreed that the green buffer between the two developments should be replaced and 
improved.  
 
Pratt asked if the roads in Barton Green would be public or private. 
 
Betzoldt replied that they would be private, except for the public stub to the roundabout.   
 
Pratt stated that the proposed layout created traffic calming and if there a connection to come from the 
north at the rear of the Barton Green site, he did not think people would be worried about others using the 
roads as a racetrack.  He stated that this design seemed to make sense, noting that its curvilinear nature 
seemed to be driven by the desire to save the natural features.  He stated that the children from both 
developments would be going to school together and they would be the driving force in getting the 
neighbors to know each other.  While he thought the access link between the two developments made 
sense, he also thought traffic calming for the Skydale neighborhood was worth pursuing.  He stated that 
the Northeast Area Transportation Plan was created as a result of the Northeast Area Plan, which 
contained as a goal the interconnection of these large parcels of land.  He said the idea in the Northeast 
Area Plan was to connect neighborhoods with both motorized and non-motorized links. 
 
Potts thought the best way to have interconnectedness between subdivisions was to have a grid pattern 
and, she said, this development contained the opposite of a grid pattern.  She saw the value of public 
streets being used by anyone, but said the social aspect was that the nature of the unit determined who 
lived there.  She believed the type of units proposed in Barton Green would attract a different group of 
people than the residents of the single-family neighborhood to the south and she did not have much hope 
that using the access link to Skydale would encourage acquaintance between the two.  She did not feel 
ready to vote for this proposal, as she had not yet seen information related to the remediation plan and 
the layout of the site.   
 
Lipson believed grid patterns were generally best for single-family neighborhoods.  He questioned 
whether the Skydale neighborhood would reach the minimum number of cars necessary to allow traffic 
calming.   
 



 

 

Pratt suggested that perhaps some type of traffic calming could be considered, not necessarily with the 
City.  
 
Bona said there may be an opportunity for traffic calming at the spur where the connection was proposed.  
With regard to grid patterns, she was not suggesting that the petitioner design a grid on this site; rather, it 
was her suggestion to find ways to make the design of the roads a little less circuitous. 
 
Carlberg asked if the remediation plan had been started and, if so, who was supervising it. 
 
Vaughn replied that it had begun and that the City’s Land Development Coordinator would see that the 
plan was carried out. 
 
Carlberg stated that this was an area plan and the issue to address with an area plan was whether the 
proposal appeared to be a suitable arrangement for the property.  She believed it was.  She stated that 
many more details would follow with the site plan stage, which would be considered at that time. 
 
Pratt asked about the possibility of providing more of a buffer for the residents on Skydale. 
 
Betzoldt did not see a problem with providing that. 
 
Pratt asked that the site plan address any possible access to the square-shaped parcel at the back 
corner. 
 
Lipson asked if approval of the area plan meant Commission was saying “yes” to the connection to 
Skydale. 
 
Vaughn stated that approval of the area plan would send a message to the petitioner on how to proceed 
with the site plan, although changes could be made at the site plan stage.   
 
Bona stated that when the site plan was submitted, she would like to know what would happen to the 
small triangular piece of land that would be leftover. 
 
A vote on the motion showed: 
 
  YEAS: Bona, Borum, Carlberg, Emaus, Lipson, Pratt 
  NAYS: Potts 
  ABSENT: Westphal 
 
Motion carried. 



 

 

MAY 16, 2006 PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES 
 
b. Public Hearing and Action on Barton Green Annexation, Zoning and Area Plan, 31.93 acres, west 
side of Pontiac Trail north of Skydale Drive.  A request to annex this parcel into the City, zone it R4A 
(Multiple-Family Dwelling District), and a proposal to develop 255 residential units in 21 buildings, a 
community building, and 525 parking spaces – Staff Recommendation:  Annexation – Approval, Zoning 
and Area Plan - Table 
 
Vaughn described the proposal. 
 
David Kwan, 218 Division Street, representing the petitioner, stated that he was present with the engineer 
and architect of the project.  He said this property was in the Forshee family for about 100 years and was 
used mostly for agricultural uses.  It was a difficult site, he said.  The proposal was to develop both 
townhomes and flats, he said. 
 
Ralph Katz, 605 Skydale, lived behind the southeast corner of this site.  He was surprised when the site 
was clear-cut, but said the trees on the site were not very ancient, as the property had been farmed for so 
long.  He acknowledged that this was a difficult site, as there was a depression going right down the 
center.  His major concern was where drainage from the site would go and if it would impact the homes 
on Skydale.   
 
Cloyd Peters, 355 Skydale, also living adjacent to this site, expressed a concern about whether the 
existing neighborhood and the proposed development would be linked with a road or if there would be 
only an emergency access between the two.  He was concerned that a road between the two would bring 
too much traffic on Skydale, especially during rush hour.  He believed using the link for emergency 
access only would be acceptable.  He was also sad to see the trees removed from the site, as they had 
been there for about 35 years. 
 
Kris Crona, 230 East Barton Lane, showed her property on the map and questioned the map’s accuracy.  
She expressed concern about how this development would impact wildlife and pedestrian traffic.  She did 
not want her privacy encroached upon and wondered if the petitioner proposed fencing.  She did not want 
to see an attractive nuisance created. 
 
Henry Okeke, 269 Larkspur, said he would like to see a buffer zone between the single-family 
neighborhood and the proposed development.  He expressed concern about traffic and a thoroughfare 
across the green area.  He feared that his neighborhood’s quality of life would be impacted by the traffic 
that would be generated from this proposal and he also did not want to see the greenbelt turned into a 
thoroughfare.  He pointed out that Ann Arbor was known for its parks, quality of life and neighborhoods.  
He also expressed concern about noise pollution and asked that all of these concerns be addressed. 
 
Bren Quilter, 459 Skydale, stated that he was the Neighborhood Watch chairman and, in talking with his 
neighbors, he discovered that their main concerns had to do with traffic and noise.  He would be very 
interested to see how the connection between the two sites would be handled. 
  
Bryan Debbink, 2358 Hilldale, also expressed concern about traffic.  His main concern had to do with this 
project proposing high density residential next to a single-family neighborhood, also pointing out that 
there were single-family homes to the south of his neighborhood as well as to the north of the subject site.  
When he was looking for a home to purchase in Ann Arbor, he said, he chose this area because it did not 
consist of a lot of condominiums, which was what the outskirts of Ann Arbor was beginning to look like.   
 
George Jacobi, 2348 Larkspur, said he chose this neighborhood because he cherished its peacefulness 
and low amount of traffic.  He was concerned about the density of this proposal and how it would affect 
the traffic in his neighborhood.  He was concerned that the link connecting the two properties would result 
in people using his neighborhood to get to Pontiac Trail.  He would favor the link for emergency access 
only, he said.   



 

 

 
Dennis Mannisto, owner of the triangular piece south of this site, said he was not opposed to the 
annexation, but said the development proposal was problematic for him because his property was 
landlocked.  He stated that the petitioner for this proposal was not willing to work with him on the issue of 
access and said he would like this issue taken into consideration.  At some point he would gain access to 
his property, he said, either by agreement or court action.  It made more sense to him to work something 
out through an agreement rather than have a judge decide, he said. 
 
Ralph Katz, 605 Skydale, agreed that traffic was a major issue.  He said it was not uncommon for people 
to drive down Pontiac Trail at 55 miles per hour and asked that this concern be addressed.   
 
Noting no further speakers, Bona declared the public hearing continued. 
 

Moved by Carlberg, seconded by Potts, that the Ann Arbor City 
Planning Commission hereby recommends that the Mayor and City 
Council approve the Barton Green Annexation. 

 
Moved by Carlberg, seconded by Potts, that the Ann Arbor City 
Planning Commission hereby recommends that the Mayor and City 
Council approve the Barton Green Zoning to R4A (Multiple-Family 
Dwelling District) and Area Plan. 

 
Carlberg believed the annexation should be approved so it could be forwarded to the State for 
processing. 
 
Kunselman was not convinced that R4A zoning was the appropriate classification for this property, stating 
that the neighborhood to the south was zoned R1C and the North Sky development to the north was 
zoned R3.  There seemed to be a disruption in the zoning, which did not make sense to him.  He did not 
understand why this site could not be zoned R1C and developed with single-family homes.  The site did 
not contain a great deal of natural features, so that was not a factor, he said.  He said he would like to see 
a layout for an R1C subdivision and information as to why it could or could not work.  He said it was good 
that the residential portion of the development was located away from the expressway and he 
encouraged that vegetation adjacent to the expressway be increased. 
 
Potts thought it was important to annex this property as soon as possible so the City could gain legal 
control.  She was hesitant about the zoning and area plan, though, and said she would not like it to come 
back to Planning Commission until there was some kind of remediation proposed for the damage that 
was done to the high quality woodland.  She would like to see it contained in a development agreement, 
she said.  She also asked that the discrepancy in the maps, as noted by a speaker this evening, be 
resolved before this came back to Commission.   
 
Lipson stated that the proposed zoning was consistent with the site specific recommendations contained 
in the Northeast Area Plan.  It was a balancing act, he said, as he wanted to preserve as much open 
space as possible and provide density as well.  The neighborhood to the south appeared to consist of 75 
to 80 houses, he said, yet it used up all of the land.  This proposal would use the same amount of land 
and still provide open space, he said.  He was not opposed to the zoning, noting that the property was on 
a bus line, was close to a medical complex, and seemed to be appropriate for this type of development.  
He agreed with the neighbors that an access link between the two neighborhoods would have a negative 
impact and said this needed to be examined.  He stated that he was extremely disturbed about the 
premature removal of the woodland.  He was appalled, he said, noting that this was the second one of 
these situations to happen just before applying for annexation.  While he agreed that the property should 
be annexed into the City, he was livid about rewarding the type of action that occurred on this site by 
approving the annexation.  He told the petitioners that they needed to adhere to the City’s rules if they 
wanted their property to be annexed into the City. 
 



 

 

Pratt said he took a request for annexation as a desire to receive the benefits of being in the City.  In this 
situation, he said, it was apparent there was a desire on the part of the petitioner to live by the favorable 
rules and not the unfavorable rules, referring to the petitioner removing the woodland.  He questioned 
moving forward with the annexation because of that behavior.  In general, he said, good points were 
made relative to traffic.  In looking at the aerial photograph, he said, the area south of Skydale clearly 
indicated the intent to link this property to the adjacent neighborhood.  The roads have been aligned for 
that and it was important for people to understand it, he said.  He also noted that the Northeast Area Plan 
contained a great deal of interconnection for future development on both sides of Pontiac trail.  He stated 
that the Intent has generally been to encourage residents to get from one place to another without having 
to drive out onto primary roads.  Traffic calming was always an option, he added.  If everyone agreed with 
an emergency access only, though, he said he would be fine with that.  He requested information from 
staff, and the City Attorney’s Office if necessary, relative to the landlocked parcel, particularly an 
understanding of the history of when the present owner purchased it and if it were landlocked at the time 
of purchase.  He also stated that a summary of a traffic impact report would be helpful in reviewing this 
proposal.  He pointed out that it was typical of the Planning Commission to ask that the petitioner and 
neighbors have formal meetings to work through concerns. 
 
D’Amour stated that non-motorized linkages were important and must be considered.  With regard to the 
Northeast Area Plan, he said, he received a communication from Kate Peppin, a member of the citizens 
advisory committee, in which she shared her concerns about increased traffic in the Skydale area and 
about natural features.  He agreed with the concerns regarding traffic and would favor that the stub off of 
Skydale be considered for emergency access only, even though connectivity was very important.  With 
regard to natural features, he said, he was very angry and disgusted about the petitioner clear-cutting the 
woodland.  He did not believe the trees were removed in order to survey the property and said this was a 
cynical way of getting around the rules.  He said the petitioner was familiar with the City’s rules and knew 
better.  He sometimes wondered if natural features were merely a bargaining chip to some in the 
community and stated that if someone wanted to develop in a community, that person needed to respect 
the values of the community.  Ann Arbor valued natural features, he said.  He did not know how he would 
vote on the annexation, but said he would like to see serious remediation for the clear-cutting presented 
to Commission. 
 
Lipson agreed that the property should be annexed so the City could gain control of the land as quickly as 
possible.  Because the trees were no longer on the site and there no longer was a certainty as to what 
natural features existed, he said, he would be looking at the possible reduction in the proposed density.  
He said he may find it very difficult to support 255 residential units because of what had been done to the 
woodland. 
 
Kunselman said he also was upset about the clear-cutting on the site and suggested that Commission 
begin right now with considering a lower density, by amending the motion to consider R1C zoning instead 
of R4A zoning. 
 

Moved by Kunselman, seconded by Potts, to amend the 
main motion by changing the R4A zoning to R1C (Single-
Family Dwelling District) zoning. 

 
Lipson thought R4A zoning may be more appropriate in this location, as it provided potential for clustering 
and required a larger amount of open space.  He said he would support the annexation this evening, but 
was not prepared to make a recommendation on the zoning. 
 
Potts said she was not ready to make a recommendation on the zoning until she had more information on 
how the development would fit on the land.  She would like to see how R1C could be developed on this 
property with the protection of natural features.   
 
Carlberg agreed that it was premature to place a zoning classification on this site.  She would need 
information as to where important natural features were located on adjacent sites so density could be 



 

 

maximized and the greatest quantity of natural features could be protected.  She also thought alternatives 
should be provided for Planning Commission review, showing how housing could be placed on the site to 
maximize the protection of natural features.  She pointed out that stacked flats were likely less expensive 
to purchase than single-family homes. 
 
Kunselman thought there was an opportunity here for a single-family subdivision on this property, one 
that would be compatible with the neighborhood to the south.  The neighborhood was obviously intended 
to be expanded with the linkages, he said.  He was talking about workforce family housing with small 
yards for children, he said.  He said the City talks about providing a diversity of housing, yet no new 
single-family homes were being developed.  He stated that the situation here involved a petitioner who 
disregarded the City’s principles and, while Commission could exert its anger about it, the important thing 
was what was going to be done about it. 
 
Emaus did not support the amendment for the R1C zoning.  He stated that the Northeast Area Plan 
envisioned higher density housing on these developable parcels, adding that there were plenty of single-
family homes in this segment of the City.  He also stated that a density of eight dwelling units per acre 
was not very high for a city environment. 
 
D’Amour thought there was a place for all types of housing in the northeast area, and in the City as a 
whole, including single-family dwellings.  He stated that the zoning and area plan would be tabled and 
staff would be taking all of the comments made this evening into consideration while working with the 
petitioner.  Even if the property were zoned R1C, he said, he would hope the housing would be clustered 
for greater protection of natural features. 
 
Bona did not think using R1C as a way to mitigate for natural features was the right approach, although 
she did agree that the petitioner should be held responsible for mitigation.  She thought R1C zoning was 
counter-productive and said she would not support the amendment. 
 
Kunselman strongly believed there was a place for R1C zoning on this property and in this area.  He was 
not proposing the R1C zoning to punish the petitioner, he said.  He stated that developing the periphery 
of Ann Arbor into multiple-family, stacked housing was sometimes going too far in one direction.  He 
thought this should be considered in terms of the growth patterns of the City, noting that soon there would 
be no more parcels left to develop.   
 
A vote on the amendment to R1C zoning showed: 
 
  YEAS: D’Amour, Kunselman 
  NAYS: Bona, Carlberg, Emaus, Lipson, Potts, Pratt 
  ABSENT: Hall 
 
Motion failed. 
 
Carlberg expressed concern about the roundabouts shown on the area plan, questioning whether they 
were the best use of space.  She asked staff to find ways to minimize the amount of pavement in the 
development. 
 
Bona stated that she generally favored interconnecting neighborhoods, but not to create a shortcut.  She 
thought the curves and angles of the roads in this proposal created an odd path for a resident to take to 
enter or exit the site, which would encourage residents to use Skydale instead, which she opposed.  She 
thought the residents of this development should be able to use their own entrance and exit, whereas 
interconnectedness would be to allow someone from one neighborhood to visit another neighborhood.  
She was supportive of R4A zoning as it allowed the density recommended in the Northeast Area Plan, 
adding that the City tended to follow its master plans.   
 



 

 

Lipson agreed with Commissioner Bona regarding the issue of linking the two developments.  He referred 
to the speed humps that were installed in his neighborhood as a street calming feature, stating that this 
might be a possibility on Skydale. 
 
Emaus said he supported traditional neighborhoods with interconnections.  Unfortunately, he said, 
connections were not implemented in this area as originally intended because of the Huron Parkway 
extension that did not happen.  In this situation, he said, there would be about 20 households that might 
cut through if the two were connected, which was not a significant amount of traffic.  He thought the 
benefit of interconnecting the neighborhoods was much greater. 
 
A vote on the annexation motion showed: 
 
  YEAS: Bona, Carlberg, Emaus, Kunselman, Lipson, Potts 
  NAYS: D’Amour, Pratt 
  ABSENT: Hall 
 
Motion carried. 
 

Moved by Lipson, seconded by D’Amour, to table action on the 
zoning and area plan. 

 
A vote on the motion to table showed: 
 
  YEAS: Bona, Carlberg, D’Amour, Emaus, Kunselman, Lipson, Potts, Pratt 
  NAYS: None 
  ABSENT: Hall 
 
Motion carried. 
 


